FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/8/2020 3:31 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/9/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

98391-7

No. 79002-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Plaintiff/Respondent

VS.

\$19,560.48 U.S. CURRENCY,

In Rem Defendant

Intervening:

REBEKAH SHIN,

Claimant/Petitioner

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Billie R. Morelli Attorney for Petitioner 9805 Sauk Connection Rd Concrete, Washington 98237 360-853-8368 p 206-400-1584 f Billie@LawyerfortheLittleGuy.com

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- **A.** Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly affirm the forfeiture of the \$19,560.48 to the City of Seattle when the notice of seizure and intended forfeiture was constitutionally insufficient?
- **B.** Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly affirm the forfeiture of the \$19,560.48 to the City of Seattle when Ms. Shin was not given constitutionally sufficient notice of her right to petition for the return of her property?
- C. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly affirm the forfeiture of the \$19,560.48 to City of Seattle when the record does not support the Court of Appeals' finding that Shin frequently and recently used the homeless shelter mailing service as her mailing address?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

i. City of Seattle Administrative Proceeding

This matter arises out of administrative forfeiture proceeding 15-380517 commenced by Respondent City of Seattle (City) under RCW 69.50.505 when it seized the <u>in-rem</u> defendant currency from Ms. Shin. (CP 21). Through counsel, Ms. Shin filed a claim to her property. (CP 28).

ii. King County District Court (KCDC)

Ms. Shin removed the matter to KCDC under cause number 165-00876, and motioned for summary judgment asserting, *inter alia*, that the Court was without authority to render judgment⁸ against her property. She argued that: 1) the text of RCW 69.50.505 contains insufficient procedural instruction, rendering it insufficient to satisfy due process, and that 2) the text of the City's pre-printed process document contains materially false information regarding time-and-manner requirements to file a valid claim, rendering it, too, insufficient to satisfy due process.

KCDC agreed that the statute was unconstitutional as written.

To "save" the statute, the court "read" the requirements of *Mullane v*. *Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*⁹ into the language of the statute. The Court then determined that the City's pre-printed document satisfied *Mullane*, and denied Ms. Shin's motion.

The matter proceeded to trial where Ms. Shin argued, *inter alia*, that authority to render judgment was lacking because the City provided insufficient service-of-process, and thus due process was violated. The Court agreed with Ms. Shin that she was not provided sufficient notice, but held there was no prejudice because she filed her claim on time. *See* RPI 392 ln 3-17.

iii. King County Superior Court

Ms. Shin appealed to superior court under cause number 17-2-28716-4, which affirmed the district court.

iv. Division One of the Court of Appeals

Ms. Shin motioned for discretionary review to Division One of the Court of Appeals under its case 79002-1. Commissioner Neel found that this case presented two issues of public interest that should be determined by an appellate court, and granted review under RAP 2.3(d)(3).

Oral argument was set for a March 4, 2020 oral argument. However, when the City motioned for more time to prepare, the court denied the motion, and instead struck oral argument.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the forfeiture. Although review had been granted review under RAP 2.3(d)(3), the court's opinion did not discuss the public's interest in the issues raised.

Ms. Shin now petitions this court to accept review.

B. Facts related to Issues

The facts are set forth in Ms. Shin's opening brief and are incorporated by reference herein. In addition, the following facts are relevant:

i. Facts re: Insufficient Process

The facts regarding the issue of insufficient process are identical to the facts of Court of Appeals case 79902-9-I. The cases are linked. Ms. Shin additionally relies on the statement of facts regarding this issue that is stated in Ms. Shin's petition for review of the linked case, which was filed contemporaneously with this filing.

ii. Facts re: Insufficient Service-of-Process

The facts reflected in this case record on this issue are not identical to those in the linked case 79902-9-I. The facts below apply to this case only.

a.Ms. Shin

Ms. Shin's "particular situation" was that she was a homeless woman surviving on the streets of Seattle, Washington. (RPI 375). She sheltered inside her boyfriend's RV that was long-term parked along 6th Ave South. (RPI 346 ln 11-17.) The vehicles Ms. Shin and her boyfriend owned were parked at the same location. (CP 479, 481, 497).

The "circumstances" of this case are as follows:

b.Det. Gonzales

A month prior to seizing Ms. Shin's property, Detective Gonzales obtained from DOL her then-current WA driver's license data, including her photograph and date of birth (information that is not found in vehicle registration data). (RPI 321 ln 10-22). The address on her driver's license was 2312 85th St, Seattle, WA, which the detective would have also obtained when he retrieved her photograph and date of birth from DOL. (RPI 463). The detective even witnessed her using the privileges that come with a valid driver's license. (CP 333 ln 6-8).

The record indicates that prior to the seizure, Det. Gonzales also obtained from DOL registration data all known vehicles owned by Ms. Shin and her boyfriend, which would have provided the detective with whatever addresses were provided to DOL at the time of each vehicle's most recent date of registration. (RPI 321 ln 10-22).

Even though the City, through Det. Gonzales, obtained the addresses at which the vehicles were registered, nowhere within the entirety of this case's 715-page record does it show what those addresses were at the time of the seizure.

Those addresses are not in the record precisely because the City did not deem them important enough to place into the City's search warrant affidavits, police reports, or internal database.

In fact, the City deems address information so irrelevant that nobody even bothered to ask Ms. Shin if she had a useable mailing address. (RPI 346 ln 11-13). The detective testified that the City maintains an internal RMS/Versadex database where officers, in the course of the normal duties, are to record information they obtain on various individuals such "handled by [the city] as a victim, witness, or complainant", and that the database is to be updated as new information is obtained. (RPI 375 ln 1-8, 376 ln 12-21). He did not follow this policy. Instead, the detective felt it was OK to just copy/paste into his police reports one of apparently several addresses from the City's internal database, rather than follow procedure. (RPI 377 ln

All we know is that the 77 S. Washington St. address was in that database. The record does not tell us *when* the information was entered, or even *who* provided the information to the City: Ms. Shin or someone else. If someone else, the data may have been inaccurate to begin with! The address could be 10 years old, un-updated due to repeated copy/pasting by officers, just as Det. Gonzales had done.

Two days after the seizure, Det. Gonzales and Det. Pasquan drove to the area near the RV parking spot, and Ms. Shin's boyfriend got in their squadcar. (CP 21, RPI 344 ln 11-22). Neither detective bothered to get out of the car and attempt serve Ms. Shin the process she was due (Det. Gonzales

[79002-1-I, Seattle v. \$19,560.48]

2-5).

Instead, Det. Gonzales handed to her boyfriend the two of City's pre-printed process documents, one for him and the other purportedly for Ms. Shin. (CP 21-22). Both showed their *actual last known address, the RV's location*. (Id). At the same time, the detective gave him a belated copy of a search warrant and its return. (RPI 344 ln 17-22). Det. Pasquan could have stepped out of the car to serve Ms. Shin while Det. Gonzales was talking to her boyfriend. Instead, he signed that he "witnessed" Det. Gonzales the hand

Det. Gonzales admitted he communicated regularly with Ms. Shin over the next several months via phone and in person. (CP 111-113). He even met with her at Seattle DEA Headquarters, on Dec. 14, 2015, twenty-seven days after the seizure. (CP 156-57). With all those various contacts with Ms. Shin, Det. Gonzales never bothered to simply hand her the process she was due.

c.Det. Hardgrove - on or before 11/24/2015

Back at the police station, Det. Hardgrove reviewed Det. Gonzales' work. (RPI 385 ln 17-23). He saw that Det. Gonzales failed to provide Ms. Shin with the notice due her, so he looked at the police report and the internal RMS/Versadex database for an address. (RPI 395). There he saw the 77 S. Washington St. address of unknown age or origin because Det.

[79002-1-I, Seattle v. \$19,560.48]

him the papers. (CP 21-22).

Gonzales failed to update the database with the new information, and he saw the same address of unknown age or origin on the police report because Det. Gonzales copy/pasted it from the database he failed to update. (Id). He filled out one of the City's pre-printed notice documents and mailed to the 77 S. Washington St address. Plaintiff's counsel asked him if he took "any other measures to try to ascertain the correct address?" His eventual answer was, "No, not that I recall." (RPI 394-400, but excluding from CP 396 ln 12 through CP 400 ln 21) ¹.

d. Det. Hardgrove on or After 11/30/2015

But before admitting he performed no due diligence, first Det. Hardgrove testified through four pages of transcript about memories of dates from a week to 4 ½ months *after* he mailed the document in this case.

Det. Hardgrove said he remembered seeing, on Nov. 30, 2015 (a week later), information about perhaps a Honda that said Ms. Shin owned it, and that it was registered using the 77 S. Washington St. address. This information he remembers cannot be found anywhere else in the record. The detective admitted that when he obtains that sort of information in forfeiture matters, he prints it out onto paper, but there is no such paper here. (RPI 399 ln 10-11).

-

¹ The excluded pages recite Detective Hardgrove's statements about his memory of events *after* he mailed the pre-printed process document, and is discussed next in this petition.

He was then shown two pieces of paper, neither of which were the one of which he just spoke. These two papers were apparently printed out 4 ½ months later, on Apr. 13, <u>2016</u>. He was directed to read portions of them into the record. (RPI 397 ln 8-25; 399 ln 18 thru 400).

Det. Hardgrove said one piece of paper looked "familiar." (RPI 399 ln 18-24). The familiar printout indicated that the non-profit organization Compass Housing was located at that address and provided services for homeless persons, including mail. (Plaintiff's Trial Ex. 15).

When asked whether he had previously viewed the other piece of paper, at first he couldn't remember. (RPI 5-10). After reading portions of it into the record, he then indicated that he "believed" he printed out. (RPI 399 ln 4-6).

This other piece of paper appeared to indicate that four months <u>after</u> the seizure, on Mar. 30, <u>2016</u>, Ms. Shin re-registered a Dodge Intrepid using the 77 S. Washington St. (based on the expiration date of Mar. 30, <u>2017</u> stated on the paper). (Plaintiff's Trial Ex. 14). The case record indicates the City was at least aware the Intrepid existed, but it was not in any way the focus of their investigation (CP 479 ln 9 notes it was parked across from the RV, and there is no indication it ever moved from that spot). However, Ms. Shin was at one point arrested in her red Saturn wagon, which was then searched pursuant to her arrest (CP 503 ¶ 3-4). Address registration

information for the Saturn is absent from the record, too.

This paper regarding the Intrepid also appeared to indicate the date Ms. Shin "titled" the vehicle in her name: Mar. 30, 2015. Importantly, the document makes no mention of what address she used when she titled the vehicle – that information is remains unknown and cannot be found within this case record. However, RCW 46.16A.050 will not issue an "original registration certificate" upon transfer of title without the new owner first proving they are a resident of Washington State, preferably by presenting a current WA driver's license or identicard. Ms. Shin's then-current driver's license, renewed in 2015, listed her mailing address was listed: 2312 NE 85th St, Seattle, WA 98115. (RPI 454 ln 23-25; RPI 463 lns 5-9).

On cross, Det. Hardgrove admitted that even though it's his job to mail out seizure notices as necessary, SPD restricts his access to DOL data, and he cannot access reliable address information without going through another detective within the agency. (RPI 156 2-16). He also testified that he did not bother to make that effort this case. (Id).

Det. Hardgrove and plaintiff's counsel seemed to not understand the difference between vehicle titling and vehicle registration. "Titling" happens once, when ownership changes, and proves ownership. (RCW 46.12.650(5)(a)). "Registration" occurs at time of tilting, and then annually until ownership title is transferred. (RCW 46.16A.030(3)). "Registration"

means its legal to be driven on the streets. (RCW 46.16A.030(4-5). In other

words, the paper provides only the date it was titled, Mar. 30, 2015, but does

not disclose to what address it was titled to or registered to on that date. The

trial court's finding that on Mar. 30, 2015 Ms. Shin registered a vehicle

using the 77 S. Washington St address is clear error.

There is no information regarding where Det. Hardgrove obtained this

paper. He testified that the City restricts his access to DOL data, so he did

not get it there. He said he often found vehicle information via the internet,

but he did not disclose any URL or domain. (RPI 402 ln 21). The location

string at the bottom of the paper does *not* show a website, it shows the C://

drive a local computer. (Plaintiff's Trial Ex. 14). In other words, the record

provides no evidence indicating whether paper's information is accurate, or

whether it came from a reliable source.

When Det. Hardgrove ended his tangential testimony, Plaintiff's

counsel repeated her original inquiry: "Did you take any other steps to

ascertain Ms. Shin's address?" Detective Hardgrove answered, "No, not

that I recall." The tangential testimony begins at CP 396 ln 12 and ends at

CP 400 ln 21.

V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

"Great caution should be used not to let fiction deny the fair play that can be secured only by a pretty close adhesion to fact." *McDonald v. Mabee*, 243 U.S. 90, 91, 37 S.Ct. 343, 61 L.Ed. 608, L.R.A.1917F, 458 (1917).

THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION AFFIRMING THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING FORFEITURE OF THE \$19,560.48 IS IN CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT AND A PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, RAISES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

The Court of Appeals incorrectly affirmed the district court's order of forfeiture. (Opinion at 2).

RAP 13.4(b) provides in relevant part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

This issues in this case meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Ms. Shin incorporates by reference her petition for review, opening brief, and reply brief presented to the court of appeals in this case.

A. The district court deprived Ms. Shin of her Fourteenth Amendment and Article I Section 3 right to Due Process when it relied on constitutionally deficient service of process to allow forfeiture of Ms. Shin's property

This case is linked to case 79902-9. Ms. has filed a petition for review of that case contemporaneously with this case. Ms. Shin incorporates by reference the relevant portions of the linked case petition for review.

B. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the contents of the notice of seizure was constitutionally sufficient

This case is linked with case 79902-9. This issue is raised in that case as well. The facts are identical. Ms. Shin has contemporaneously filed a petition for review of the linked case. Ms. Shin incorporates by reference and relies on the facts, law, and argument within her petition for review of the linked case, as well as the facts, law, and argument within her court of appeals linked-case briefing.

C. The Court of Appeals erred in finding The City's effort to serve Ms. Shin was constitutionally sufficient

This issue is of service via the mail also raised in the linked case. Ms. Shin incorporates by reference and relies on the relevant portions in her petition for review in the on this issue, and the following analysis:

The City's actions were not "reasonably calculated, "under all the circumstances, to reach²" Ms. Shin. It was well "within the limits of practicability³" for Det. Gonzales to get out of his car and serve Ms. Shin personal process. Asking a private citizen to do his job for him is not "serious effort⁴" to provide notice, but "mere gesture⁵" far outside what this "particular situation demand[ed].⁶" Det. Pasquan, he made no gesture at all. And even though Det. Hardgrove knew Ms. Shin was homeless, rather than make a "serious effort⁷" to ascertain whether Ms. Shin was using a particular mailing address, if any, he relied solely on Det. Gonzales' copy/pasted information of unknown age or origin in his police report and the outdated internal RMS/Versadex database from which it came, rather than make any attempt to confirm its accuracy by accessing DOL and other sources freely available to him through another detective.

"Under all the circumstances⁸" of this "particular situation,⁹" the mailing was not enough. The statute may *allow* mailing, but only so long as that mailing satisfies the requirements of *Mullane*, *Morrissey*, and *Mathews*. Here, the "particular situation demand[ed]" more.

2

² Mullane, 339 U. S. at 318 (emphasis added).

 $^{^3}$ Id.

⁴ *Id*.

⁵ *Id.* at 315.

⁶ *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 481.

⁷ *Mullane*, 339 U. S. at 318.

⁸ *Id*

⁹ Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. at 481.

The City could have made a "serious effort10" to provide Ms. Shin

proper notice, without taking on any "additional fiscal or administrative

burdens¹¹." Asking an arrestee for their address is well "within the limits

of practicability. 12" Doing so places no burden on The City at all. Asking a

fellow officer to run a routine address search is also well "within the limits

of practicability¹³." The City's burden would have been a few minutes of

two officer's time. But because the City did not bother, it cannot be said that

the City was "desirous of actually informing14" Ms. Shin of these

proceedings.

D. This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest

This issue is also raised in the linked case. Ms. Shin incorporates by

reference and relies on the relevant portions of her petition for review in

the on this issue.

Ms. Shin was just one of thousands¹⁵ of homeless individuals surviving

on the streets the night of Nov. 17, 2015. That night, City of Seattle police

officers seized from her the *in-rem* defendant property named in this case.

She was not told they planned to keep it forever. She was not told that she

¹⁰ *Id*.

¹² Mullane, 339 U.S. at 318.

¹⁴ *Id.* at 315.

¹⁵ RCW 43.185B.005; RCW 43.185C.005.

had any rights. She was not provided any paperwork.

They didn't even bother to ask whether she had a mailing address.

Compared to the stably housed, homeless citizens endure a significantly higher rate of police contact simply due to their unhoused status¹⁶. "Every night in the United States more than **300,000** veterans sleep on the streets or inside a homeless shelter"¹⁷. Nearly half of those suffer from Post Trauma Stress Disorder (PTSD)¹⁸. "An estimated one-third of all homeless individuals suffer from mental illness¹⁹."

Everyone is deserving of Due Process, Even those without Homes

The City failed to provide the procedural notice she was due. But this case is bigger than Ms. Shin. When the City does attempt to provide notice, its pre-printed document demands materially false "time-and-manner" requirements for submitting a claim for seized property. And dozens, if not hundreds, of law enforcement agencies across our state use similar forms.

If the City's "mere gesture²⁰" is allowed to stand in for the "serious

¹⁶ Seth Lemings, The De-Criminalization of Homelessness, 10 UC Irvine L. Rev. 287 (2019); Brendan M. Conner, *Salvaging Safe Spaces: Toward Model Standards for LGBTQ Youth-Serving Professionals Encountering Law Enforcement*, 24 Am. U. J. Gender Soc. Pol'y & L. 199, 206 ln 9-12 (2016); Maya Nordberg, *Jails Not Homes: Quality of Life on the Street of San Francisco*, 13 Hastings Women's L.J. 261, 270 f 72 (2002).

¹⁷ Claire Voegele, *Never Again: Correcting the Administrative Abandonment of Vietnam Veterans with other than Honorable Discharges Induced by Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder*, 68 S. C. L. Rev. 1077, 1086 ¶ 2 (2017) (*emphasis original*). ¹⁸ *Id.* at 1086-87.

¹⁹ Allison N. Winnike & Bobby Joe III Dale, *Rewiring Mental Health: Legal and Regulatory Solutions for the Effective Implementation of Telepsychiatry and Telemental Health Care*, 17 Hous. J. Health L. & Pol'y 21, 31 ln 4 (2017).

²⁰ Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 315 (1950).

effort²¹" due process requires, then there is nothing to persuade the City, or any other law enforcement agency in Washington, to "employ means²²" that evidence they are "desirous of actually informing²³" homeless individuals that forfeiture proceedings commenced or that they are risk of permanent deprivation of their seized property.

E. The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with other decisions

This issue is also raised in the linked case. Ms. Shin incorporates by reference and relies on the relevant portions her petition for review in the on this issue, as well as her analysis above.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Ms. Shin respectfully petitions this court to accept discretionary review.

PRESENTED FOR DECISION April 8, 2020.

Billie R. Morelli, WSBA No. 36105

Counsel for Claimant/Petitioner Rebekah Shin

²² *Id*. at 315.

²¹ *Id*. at 318.

 $^{^{23}}$ Id.

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