# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/8/2020 1:21 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

#### No. 98391-7 Court of Appeals No. 79002-1-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CITY OF SEATTLE, SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT & SEATTLE CHIEF OF POLICE,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

VS.

\$19,560.48 U.S. CURRENCY,

In Rem Defendant,

REBEKAH SHIN,

Claimant/Petitioner.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

David N. Bruce, WSBA #15237 Duffy Graham, WSBA #33103 SAVITT BRUCE & WILLEY LLP 1425 Fourth Avenue Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98101-2272 (206) 749-0500

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
III.	ARGUMENT			
	A.	There Is No Decisional Conflict.		
	B.	There Is No Significant Question of Constitutional Law.		
		1. Service of the notice satisfied due process6		
		2. The content of the notice satisfied due process		
		3. Petitioner cannot show prejudice		
	C.	There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest		
IV.	CON	CONCLUSION11		

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Cases
City of Seattle v. 2009 Cadillac CTS, 2 Wn.App.2d 44, 409 P.3d 1121 (2017)
State v. Getty, 55 Wn. App. 152, 777 P.2d 1 (1989)
State v. Rogers, 127 Wn.2d 270, 898 P.2d 294 (1995)
State v. Storhoff, 133 Wn.2d 523, 946 P.2d 783 (1997)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)
Tellevik v. Real Property Known As 31641 West Rutherford Street Located in City of Carnation, Wash., 125 Wn.2d 364, 884 P.2d 1319 (1994)
Statutes
RCW 69.50.505(5)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This matter presents a straightforward application of the Washington civil forfeiture statute, RCW 69.50.505. There is no basis for further review by the Supreme Court.

In connection with an arrest of Petitioner Rebekah Shin for drug trafficking, Seattle Police ("SPD") seized approximately \$19,000 in cash. At the time, Petitioner was living in a recreational vehicle with her boyfriend. SPD timely served Petitioner with a notice of forfeiture by certified mail to an address for Petitioner obtained from an SPD database. Petitioner timely served a notice of claim of ownership and then timely removed the matter to the King County District Court. Following an evidentiary hearing, the District Court determined *inter alia* that service of the notice of forfeiture satisfied due process and that Petitioner suffered no prejudice from the service of the notice. The District Court ordered the property forfeited. On RALJ appeal, the King County Superior Court affirmed the District Court findings and the order of forfeiture. The Court of Appeals likewise affirmed in an Unpublished Opinion, from which Petitioner now seeks review.

Petitioner does not demonstrate that any of the grounds under RAP 13.4(b) support review of this matter by the Supreme Court. Petitioner makes no showing of a decisional conflict or a significant constitutional

question. She also does not demonstrate that there is an issue of significant public interest. The City agrees with Petitioner that homeless individuals are entitled to due process. But Petitioner got that—and she does not show that the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion would create confusion or generate more unnecessary litigation.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 17, 2015, Seattle Police seized \$19,560.48 cash pursuant to the arrest of Petitioner Rebekah Shin and her boyfriend, Kiel Krogstadt, for trafficking heroin and methamphetamine. KCDC CP000704-05.

On November 24, 2015, Seattle Police arrested Petitioner and Krogstadt a second time for drug trafficking. Pursuant to that second arrest, police seized \$43,697 in cash. KCDC CP000706-07 at ¶¶ 20, 23.1

On November 24, 2015, Seattle Police Detective Donald Hardgrove sent a notice of seizure and intended forfeiture ("notice of forfeiture") for \$19,560.48 and also a notice of forfeiture for \$43,697, by certified mail and by regular mail, to Petitioner at 77 South Washington Street, Seattle, 98104. KCDC CP000707; *see* KCDC CP000061.

Detective Hardgrove obtained the address from the General Offense

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In a separate matter, Petitioner also challenges the seizure of the \$43,697. See Supreme Court No. 98392-5.

Report and from a search of the SPD records management system, which showed 77 South Washington Street as Petitioner's most recent address and also as the address listed for Petitioner in multiple contacts with SPD. *Id.* 77 South Washington Street is the address for a mail receiving service for homeless individuals. *Id.* 

The notice of forfeiture advised that \$19,560.48 had been seized pursuant to RCW 69.50.505. *See* KCDC CP000061. It also stated *inter alia* that (1) a notice of claim must be served by certified mail, (2) the time period for filing a claim commences upon seizure, and (3) the claim must be received within the 45-day limitations period. *Id*.

Petitioner timely filed a claim of ownership of the \$19,560.48. She then timely removed the matter to the King County District Court.

On June 20, 2017, the District Court held an adversarial evidentiary hearing. KCDC CP000703. Petitioner did not appear. KCDC CP000704. Petitioner did not enter any evidence at the District Court hearing asserting an address other than 77 South Washington Street. The District Court concluded, *inter alia*, that Petitioner and her attorney were aware of the seizure of \$19,560.48 prior to the deadline for filing a claim, that Petitioner was able to file a timely claim, that Petitioner suffered no prejudice from service of the notice of forfeiture, and that service of the

notice of forfeiture satisfied due process. The District Court ordered forfeiture of the \$19,560.48. KCDC CP000710-11.

Petitioner timely filed a RALJ appeal with King County Superior Court. In that appeal, Petitioner did not challenge the District Court Finding of Fact that Detective Hardgrove had sent the notice via regular mail and certified mail to Petitioner at 77 South Washington street, Seattle. CP 570. On August 24, 2018, following briefing and oral argument, the Superior Court affirmed the District Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and denied the RALJ appeal. CP 570-73.

The Court of Appeals subsequently granted Petitioner's request for discretionary review. On March 9, 2020, the Court of Appeals affirmed. *See* Unpublished Opinion, Washington Ct. of Appeals No. 79002-1-I, Mar. 9, 2020 ("Op."). The Court of Appeals held that neither the service of the notice of forfeiture nor the content of the notice violated Petitioner's due process rights. *See id*.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Petitioner invokes all four criteria in RAP 13.4(b) in seeking review by this Court, but she does not demonstrate that any of them apply. The petition should be denied.

#### A. There Is No Decisional Conflict.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with United States or Washington Supreme Court decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Ptn. at 17-20. But she does not identify a decisional conflict.

In her Petition in the \$19,000 matter, Petitioner's argument that there is a decisional conflict refers the Court to her Petition in the \$43,000 matter (Supreme Court No. 98392-5). *See* Ptn. at 17. She does not make a separate argument in this Petition.

The City addresses Petitioner's argument regarding purported decisional conflict in its Answer to the Petition in the \$43,000 matter. Rather than repeat that argument, the City incorporates it here and respectfully refers the Court to the City's Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review, No. 98392-5, at 11-12.

#### B. There Is No Significant Question of Constitutional Law.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision "raises significant questions of law" under the state and federal constitutions. But she does not identify or explain any such significant question of law. She merely disputes the Court of Appeals decision regarding (1) adequacy of service of the notice of forfeiture and (2) the adequacy of the contents of the notice.

#### 1. Service of the notice satisfied due process.

In her Petition in the \$19,000 matter, Petitioner's argument that service of the notice of forfeiture was not adequate is identical to her argument on the same issue in the \$43,000 matter. *Compare* \$19,000 Petition at 13-15 *with* \$43,000 Petition at 19-20. The City has addressed Petitioner's argument on this issue in its Answer to the Petition in the \$43,000 matter. The City incorporates its argument here and respectfully refers the Court to the City's Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review, No. 98392-5, at 13-16.

#### 2. The content of the notice satisfied due process.

In her Petition in the \$19,000 matter, Petitioner's argument that the content of the notice of forfeiture denied her due process refers the Court to her Petition in the \$43,000 matter. *See* Ptn. at 13. She does not make a separate argument in this Petition.

The \$43,000 Petition notes discrepancies under RCW 69.50.505(5) in the City's notice form served on Petitioner. *See* \$43,000 Petition at 9-10. But the \$43,000 Petition does not explain how the content of the notice deprived her of due process.

In any event, the notice of forfeiture served on Petitioner did not deprive her of due process. Preliminarily, the City acknowledges, as it did below, that its notice form contained minor discrepancies under the civil forfeiture statute. The City's notice stated that (1) a notice of claim must be served by certified mail, (2) the time period for filing a claim commences upon seizure, and (3) the claim must be received within the 45-day limitations period. *See* KCDC CP000061. But the Washington civil forfeiture statute (1) authorizes several forms of service of the notice of claim, including regular mail; (2) provides that the 45-day limitations period for filing a notice of claim begins on the date of service of the notice of forfeiture; and (3) provides that mail service of the notice of claim is effective as of the date of mailing:

The notice of claim may be served by any method authorized by law or court rule including, but not limited to, service by first-class mail. Service by mail shall be deemed complete upon mailing within the forty-five day period following service of the notice.

RCW 69.50.505(5). *Compare* KCDC CP000061 *with* RCW 69.50.505(5). *See* Op. at 5.

Notwithstanding these discrepancies, the City's notice of forfeiture did not violate Petitioner's due process rights. Due process pursuant to the Washington civil forfeiture statute requires notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Tellevik v. Real Property Known As 31641 West Rutherford Street Located in City of Carnation, Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 364, 370-71, 884 P.2d 1319 (1994); *see also State v. Rogers*, 127 Wn.2d 270, 275, 898 P.2d 294 (1995).

The City's notice met those requirements. It advised Petitioner that the property had been seized and that upon filing a timely notice of claim she could contest the seizure. KCDC CP 000061. The discrepancies in the form did not deny Petitioner either notice or the opportunity to be heard. *State v. Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d 523, 527, 946 P.2d 783 (1997) (notice of driver's license revocation that misstated time to request hearing did not deprive defendants of notice or opportunity to be heard). The inconsistencies were "minor procedural errors" that do not rise to the level of a due process violation. *See Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d at 527 (holding notice of revocation that incorrectly stated time period to request formal revocation hearing did not violate due process); *see* Op. at 9.

Further, the City's notice also cited the Washington civil forfeiture statute, which provided Petitioner correct information as to the method of service of the notice of claim, commencement of the limitations period, and completion of service of the claim. KCDC CP 000061. The citation to RCW 69.50.505 satisfied minimum due process requirements. *Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d at 528.

#### 3. Petitioner cannot show prejudice.

Further, Petitioner does not and cannot show prejudice resulting from the City's service of the notice or the contents of the notice.

Petitioner timely served her notice of claim. And she received an

opportunity to be heard and was heard: she timely removed the matter from the seizing agency to King County District Court—where she received a hearing. *See* KCDC CP 000703-711.

Dismissal of the forfeiture is not warranted in the absence of prejudice. *Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d at 532 (in absence of showing of actual prejudice, incorrect notices did not invalidate license revocation notices); *City of Seattle v. 2009 Cadillac CTS*, 2 Wn.App.2d 44, 409 P.3d 1121 (2017) (no denial of due process where hearing commenced outside of 90-day period prescribed by Washington civil forfeiture statute; more timely hearing not required where claimant failed to establish prejudice from delay in hearing); *State v. Getty*, 55 Wn. App. 152, 155-56, 777 P.2d 1 (1989) (issuance of adult court citation to juvenile did not violate due process; even though due process violation had occurred, dismissal of conviction not appropriate because no showing of prejudice). Dismissal of the forfeiture under these circumstances would be an absurd result, which should be avoided. *Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d at 532.

#### C. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Petitioner also argues that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest. But Petitioner does not establish a basis for review on such grounds.

Petitioner's argument pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) is that, at the time her property was seized, she was homeless; there are thousands of homeless people; and homeless individuals deserve due process. Ptn. at 15-17. But Petitioner fails to demonstrate that even one other homeless person has been served with a notice of forfeiture in the same manner as her—by certified mail to an address where there is an organization that provides mail service to homeless individuals and that the police department database identified as a frequent and most recent address for that person. She fails to demonstrate that other homeless individuals have been served with a notice of forfeiture containing the same discrepancies. She has not demonstrated that anyone suffered any prejudice from such service or such notice. She has not demonstrated that she was singled out to be given notice of the seizure and her right to object in the manner that she was because she was homeless—or that anyone else was. She has not established that the unpublished Court of Appeals decision either has the potential to affect the due process rights of a large volume of forfeiture proceedings commenced in the City of Seattle or elsewhere. Cf. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). And she has not demonstrated that the decision below may induce unnecessary litigation or create confusion. Cf. id.

The City agrees without reservation that homelessness is an important problem and that homeless individuals deserve the same due process protections that everyone else does. But Petitioner has made no showing that other homeless individuals or indeed anyone received notices of forfeiture with the same method of service and content that she received, let alone that anyone else thereby was denied due process. Petitioner also has not shown and cannot show prejudice. In short, she has made no showing that this dispute involves an issue of significant public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Petitioner has not demonstrated any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review by the Supreme Court of the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion. The Petition should be denied.